

THE IMPACT OF THE INTERNATIONAL LIVESTOCK RESEARCH INSTITUTE

EDITED BY JOHN MCINTIRE AND DELIA GRACE







CABI is a trading name of CAB International

CABI Nosworthy Way Wallingford Oxfordshire OX10 8DE UK

Tel: +44 (0)1491 832111 Fax: +44 (0)1491 833508 E-mail: info@cabi.org Website: www.cabi.org CABI 745 Atlantic Avenue 8th Floor Boston, MA 02111 USA

Tel: +1 (617)682-9015 E-mail: cabi-nao@cabi.org

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{\sc 0}}$ Copyright International Livestock Research Institute and CAB International 2020.

Co-published by CABI and the International Livestock Research Institute 2020.

This publication is copyrighted by the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI). It is licensed for use under the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International Licence. To view this licence, visit https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0. Unless otherwise noted, you are free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format), adapt (remix, transform, and build upon the material) for any purpose, even commercially, under the following conditions:

ATTRIBUTION. The work must be attributed, but not in any way that suggests endorsement by ILRI or the author(s).

NOTICE:

For any reuse or distribution, the licence terms of this work must be made clear to others.

Any of the above conditions can be waived if permission is obtained from the copyright holder.

Nothing in this licence impairs or restricts the author's moral rights.

Fair dealing and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

The parts used must not misrepresent the meaning of the publication.

ILRI would appreciate being sent a copy of any materials in which text, photos etc. have been used.

ISBN-13: 978 1 78924 185 3 (hardback) ILRI ISBN: 92-9146-586-3 (hardback)

CABI Commissioning editor: Alexandra Lainsbury CABI Editorial assistant: Lauren Davies CABI Production editor: James Bishop

Typeset by SPi, Pondicherry, India Printed and bound in the UK by Bell and Bain Ltd, Glasgow

7 Transboundary Animal Diseases

Delia Grace¹, Tadelle Dessie², Michel Dione³, Henry Kiara⁴, Anne Liljander⁵, Jeff Mariner⁶, Jan Naessens⁷, Edward Okoth⁴, Ekta Patel⁴, Lucilla Stienna⁴, Phil Toye⁴ and Barbara Wieland²

¹International Livestock Research Institute, Nairobi, Kenya and University of Greenwich, UK; ²International Livestock Research Institute, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia; ³International Livestock Research Institute, Dakar, Senegal; ⁴International Livestock Research Institute, Nairobi, Kenya; ⁵EUROIMMUN s AG, Lübeck, Germany; ⁶Cummings School of Veterinary Medicine at Tufts University, Grafton, Massachusetts, USA. ⁷De Haan, Belgium

Contents

Executive Summary	275
ILRI's contribution in the global context	275
Impacts of ILRI's research	275
Scientific impacts	275
Development impacts	276
Policy impacts	276
Capacity building	276
African Swine Fever	276
Research	277
Research impact: technologies	278
Diagnostics	278
Vaccines	278
Research impact: molecular epidemiology	278
Research impact: field epidemiology and control	279
Transmission dynamics	279
Risk factors	279
Control	279
Research impact: socio-economic studies	280
Mycoplasma Disease	280
Research	281
Research impact: technologies	281
Diagnostics	281
Vaccines	281
Therapeutics	283
Research impact: molecular epidemiology	283
Host-mycoplasma interactions	283
Research impact: field epidemiology and control	283
Modelling control strategies	283
Epidemiological surveys	284
Vaccine trial	284

Research impact: socio-economics	284
Demand for vaccines	284
Vaccine delivery systems	285
Policy analysis	285
Peste des Petits Ruminants	285
Research	285
Research impact: technologies	286
Research impact: field epidemiology and control	286
Vaccination strategies	286
Global eradication	287
Newcastle Disease	287
Research	287
Research impact: technologies	287
Research impact: field epidemiology and control	287
Research impact: socio-economic studies	288
Vaccine adoption	288
Other Livestock Transboundary Diseases	288
Rinderpest	288
Foot-and-mouth disease	289
Classical swine fever	289
Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome	290
Lumpy skin disease	290
Infectious bursal disease	290
Transboundary Animal Diseases in Systems	290
Conclusion and Future Directions	293
References	294

Executive Summary

Transboundary animal diseases (TADs) are highly contagious epidemics with the potential for very rapid spread, causing serious economic and sometimes public health consequences while threatening farmers' livelihoods. TADs often cause high morbidity and mortality in susceptible animal populations. Some TADs are also emerging infectious diseases, food-borne diseases and/or zoonoses: these are covered in other chapters. This chapter covers those high-impact, highly contagious animal diseases, such as foot-andmouth disease (FMD), that do not infect humans but do affect food and nutrition security and trade that the International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI) has been working on since the 1990s. These are: African swine fever (ASF), mycoplasma disease (both contagious bovine pleuropneumonia (CBPP) and contagious caprine pleuropneumonia (CCPP), peste des petits ruminants (PPR) and Newcastle disease (ND). Other TADs, which were to a lesser degree the focus of ILRI research, are briefly mentioned (including FMD, classical swine fever (CSF) and rinderpest).

ILRI's contribution in the global context

ILRI has been involved in ASF research since 2003. Originally, the focus was on diagnostics and molecular epidemiology. A large project in western Kenya broadened this by introducing a multidisciplinary approach. With the start of the CGIAR Research Programme (CRP) on Livestock and Fish in 2012, a major research-todevelopment initiative started in Uganda. From 2008, ILRI has been a key player in conducting research on the mycoplasma diseases: first, CBPP, and, more recently, CCPP. This research agenda started in response to the African Union's listing of CBPP as the most economically important transboundary livestock disease on the African continent in the post-rinderpest era. ILRI has been significantly involved in PPR research since 2010, with the primary aim of developing appropriate and proven PPR vaccination strategies that can progressively control the disease in developing countries. Finally, ILRI has made small but strategic inputs to the understanding and control of rinderpest, FMD, CSF, ND and some other TADs.

Impacts of ILRI's research

Scientific impacts

Molecular epidemiology highlights include: the isolation and genetic characterization of CBPP and ASF and other pathogens; a better understanding of disease dynamics; and improved understanding of immunity in local African breeds and European breeds.

Technical research contributions to vaccine development for CBPP, CCPP, ASF and PPR have been developing a new challenge model for CCPP for vaccine development, improved diagnostic tests for CBPP and ASF, and construction of biological components using synthetic biology to identify vaccine candidates.

Field epidemiology research highlights include: a better understanding of disease dynamics by mathematical modelling of ASF, CBPP and rinderpest and also using social networks to understand ASF transmission; investigating reservoirs of ASF and rinderpest and the role of carriers in ASF; conducting large-scale studies on the prevalence and risk factors for ASF, showing the importance of this disease; contributing to a major gap analysis of FMD research, shaping the path of FMD control; and a large vaccine trial of an improved mycoplasma vaccine, which did not demonstrate superiority but did show the feasibility of CBPP control. ILRI and partners pioneered the first attempt to describe the entire disease burden of any naturally occurring animal population in the world by a landmark study in which a cohort of several hundred calves were followed for a year and assessed for more than 100 pathogens.

Socio-economic research highlights include: extending knowledge, attitude and practice related to TADs; understanding the economic factors in the adoption of the CBPP and the ND vaccine; the first *ex ante* assessment of the costs and benefits of ASF control through improving biosecurity; developing estimates for the economic benefits of rinderpest, PPR and CBPP control that influenced investment; challenging conventional wisdom that training and awareness were enough to motivate disease control by farmers and traders; and incorporating gender, as a measure of inequality, into the analysis of the distributional effects of most TADs (see Chapter 18, this volume).

Development impacts

Mycoplasma studies at ILRI have been undertaken since the mid-2000s, but the initial focus was on upstream research, which can be expected to bring about development impact several decades later. ASF research became more development oriented with the start of the CRP on Livestock and Fish, and end-user benefits are starting to be documented but not vet on a large scale. Already, ILRI evidence has helped national partners to better target ASF surveillance and response in Uganda, safeguarding smallholders' stock. A thermostable PPR vaccine developed by ILRI is under production in Mali and Kenva and will play a major role in global control efforts as the vaccine does not require a cold chain. ILRI made a small contribution to generating the evidence that motivated the global eradication of rinderpest, one of the greatest successes of global animal disease control.

Policy impacts

ILRI, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and the African Union-Interafrican Bureau for Animal Resources (AU-IBAR) have been collaborating since 2013 to develop an Africa-wide strategy for the prevention and control of ASF (FAO/AU-IBAR/ILRI, 2017). ILRI evidence has stimulated the local government in Uganda to invest in ASF control.

In 2015, FAO and the World Organization for Animal Health (OIE) launched an international initiative for the progressive control of PPR and its global eradication by 2030. ILRI hosted the second meeting of the Global PPR Research Alliance (GPRA), and ILRI scientists contributed to the development of the first pan-African strategy for the progressive control of PPR.

ILRI developed a policy analysis for the implementation of CBPP control strategies in pastoral regions of sub-Saharan Africa. ILRI has also contributed to a major gap analysis for the Global Foot-and-Mouth Disease Research Alliance (GFRA) and to the Global African Swine Fever Research Alliance (GASFRA) and along with FAO and the African Union helped develop a regional strategy for ASF control.

Capacity building

Several dozen graduate fellows have participated in this research. Farmers, butchers, government veterinarians and scientists in Uganda have benefitted from training. One manual on ASF has been developed and is widely being used by the private sector in training farmers.

African Swine Fever

African swine fever (ASF) is a haemorrhagic viral disease in pigs resulting in mortality rates approaching 100% (Steinaa et al., 2016). ASF is native to southern and eastern Africa, where it was historically maintained in a wildlife (sylvatic) cycle involving warthogs, the natural reservoir, and soft ticks. It first came to attention when susceptible exotic pig breeds were introduced in the early 1900s to eastern Africa. It spread within Africa and, in the 1950s, to Europe and subsequently to South America and the Caribbean (Costard et al., 2009). In the 1990s, the disease was eradicated from Europe, except in Sardinia (Galindo and Alonso, 2017). However, in 2007, the disease expanded once more out of Africa into the Caucasus (Georgia). ASF was recently confirmed in China (Wang et al., 2018) and in Vietnam and Cambodia.

Unlike many other viral pathogens, ASF is remarkably stable, surviving in pork, pig waste and the environment. No drugs or vaccines exist for treating or preventing ASF. Control relies on biosecurity and surveillance, diagnosis and slaughter, all difficult to apply given the persistence of the virus. Limited diagnostic capacities and poor knowledge about the epidemiology of the ASF virus have long hindered its control.

Research

ILRI research on ASF began in 2003 through collaboration with the European Union Reference Laboratory for ASF diagnostics at the Centre for Animal Health Research (CISA), National Institute for Agricultural and Food Research and Technology, Spain. This worked towards the development of improved diagnostic tests and also assessed viral prevalence and molecular diversity in East and Central Africa using assays developed at CISA, as reported by Bishop et al. (2015), Gallardo et al. (2009, 2011, 2013) and Okoth et al. (2013). The CISA provided staff expertise, intellectual input, diagnostic reagents and use of their Biosafety Level 3 laboratory for viral culture and in vivo infections of swine. In 2004, a collaboration with the Friedrich-Loeffler-Institut (FLI) in Germany started, aiming to develop an ASF vaccine, led by Richard Bishop.

The capacity for diagnosis was used between 2006 and 2008 to further train laboratory technicians and field epidemiologists in Kenya, Uganda, Tanzania, Rwanda and Burundi. Subsequently, diagnostic tests have been validated with national veterinary services in much of East Africa. ILRI and the other organizations made available both facilities and material from recent outbreaks of ASF in the eastern Africa region for this purpose. The work focused on extensive studies of ASF outbreaks and sylvatic (wild pig-based) cycles in Kenya and Uganda.

ILRI was also a partner in a Swedish-led consortium to assess the impact of ASF in Uganda, starting in 2010. This project conducted outbreak investigations and also investigated the role of bush pigs in transmission. It was followed by another Swedish-led initiative, which focused more on interventions.

From 2012, the Biosciences eastern and central Africa-ILRI Hub (BecA-ILRI Hub), in partnership with the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO), conducted studies in the border region of Kenya and Uganda. This project represented the most comprehensive study of ASF disease yet attempted. Using the biosciences capacity for diagnosis and epidemiological surveillance at the BecA-ILRI Hub and epidemiological research incorporating participatory and quantitative approaches, stateof-the-art diagnostics, molecular biology, genetics and genomics, mathematical modelling and social network studies enabled the development of evidence-based recommendations for disease mitigation. There were important advances in immunology of ASF, and two potential vaccine candidates were produced by deleting a gene in two different ASF viruses - the Kenyan 1033 strain (genotype IX) and the Sardinia strain (genotype I).

In 2011, the CRP on Livestock and Fish identified the smallholder pig value chain in Uganda as a high-potential target to translate research into development interventions (Ouma *et al.*, 2015). ASF was identified by the farmers and pig value chain stakeholders as the major constraint to smallholder pig farming (Dione *et al.*, 2014). This background analysis generated information on the epidemiology of ASF and led to testing of 'best-bet' interventions to manage ASF and other pig diseases (Dione *et al.*, 2018a,b).

In collaboration with Chinese researchers, ILRI has been researching genomic characterization of domestic pigs and wild boars in Asia and the genetic resistance of domestic pigs and wild boars to ASF. With the spread of ASF into Asia, ILRI has been providing support to countries in the region.

Research impact: technologies

Diagnostics

Reliable diagnostics are key to the rapid containment and management of disease outbreaks. As such, ILRI contributed to validation of diagnostic tests developed by their international partner, CISA. However, samples taken from outbreak areas, surprisingly, did not test positive for ASF antibodies using the OIE protocols (Gallardo et al., 2013; Okoth et al., 2013). Analysis of blood and serum samples using a polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assay found positivity to ASF virus (ASFV) of 28% in two independent samplings in south-western Kenya and 0% PCR positivity in central Kenya, but no animals were seropositive in either study site using the OIE indirect ELISA, and none of the animals sampled exhibited clinical symptoms of ASF. Failure of the OIE protocol might be related to the characteristics of African pigs (Gallardo et al., 2013), opening opportunities for further research on host-pathogen interactions.

ILRI scientists were part of a Swedish-led team that evaluated a rapid diagnostic approach using a portable, commercial real-time PCR (Zsak *et al.*, 2005). Trials suggested that it could be used effectively at the pen side or in a field laboratory with performance at a level comparable to sophisticated molecular laboratories (Leblanc *et al.*, 2013). This was subsequently confirmed in Uganda (Liu *et al.*, 2016).

Vaccines

In collaboration with FLI, ILRI studied the immune responses to African ASFV strains and generated additional knowledge of the Kenyan pig major histocompatibility complex (MHC)¹. Using an experimental animal model with an isolated virulent virus from Kenya, it was found that immunity could be obtained by increasing doses of the virulent strain. This method is now being used for studying the immune response to such

isolates. Immune responses were characterized by very low antibody titres but solid cellular immune responses (Steinaa *et al.*, 2016).

Another advance was sequencing MHC molecules from Kenyan pigs to identify which antigens can be used for a vaccine that induces cellular immunity. This revealed new sequences (Sørensen et al., 2017); ILRI has received sequences from approximately 34 other Kenyan pigs, which are currently being evaluated. Of particular importance was the achievement of generating two vaccine candidates by deleting a gene, which should attenuate the virus. Recently, cuttingedge CRISPR/Cas (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats and CRISPR-associated protein 9) gene-editing technology and synthetic biology approaches for generating ASF vaccine candidates have been introduced to the ILRI ASF research programme. Using CRISPR/Cas9 is faster, cheaper, more accurate and more efficient than other existing genome-editing methods.

Research impact: molecular epidemiology

ILRI used molecular epidemiology to track viruses causing outbreaks, helping to understand the spatial and temporal relationships among them. Complete sequencing of the p54 gene from ASFV isolates revealed regional differences and the value of p54 gene sequencing as an additional, intermediate-resolution, molecular epidemiological tool for typing of ASFV (Gallardo et al., 2009). Whole-genome phylogenetics, including a newly sequenced virulent isolate from Spain, identified two clusters. One contained South African isolates from ticks and warthog, suggesting derivation from a sylvatic (wildlifeto-pig) transmission cycle. The second contained isolates from West Africa and the Iberian Peninsula, suggesting a domestic (pig-to-pig) transmission cycle. This provides valuable insights into control, as disease maintained in a sylvatic cycle is harder to control than disease maintained in a domestic cycle. Comparative genomics revealed high diversity within a limited sample of the ASFV gene pool (de Villers et al., 2010) but revealed that genetically similar ASFVs may be circulating between Kenya and Uganda (Gallardo et al., 2011).

Scientists later enriched the publicly available ASFV genome bank with sequences from East Africa. Genome sequencing and annotation of a recent pig-derived p72 genotype IX and a tick-derived genotype X isolate from Kenva were carried out using the Illumina platform and this was compared with a Kenya 1950 isolate. The three genomes constituted a cluster that was phylogenetically distinct from other ASFV genomes but 98-99% conserved within the group. There were multiple differences among East African genomes in the 360 and 110 multi-copy gene families (Bishop et al., 2015). This information is not only important in tracking movement of the viruses but also helps with recognition of new viruses being introduced into East Africa, indicating a breach in transboundary disease control. A practical implication of the genetic similarity of the Kenyan and Ugandan viral isolates is that ASF control requires a regional approach to control. There was also a classification of the ASFV genome series of multi-gene families, with the goal of providing standard comparisons and naming schemes, thereby enhancing the capacity to search for novel vaccine targets in ASFV.

Research impact: field epidemiology and control

Transmission dynamics

Understanding transmission dynamics is needed before control is feasible. Recent findings that high levels of detection of ASFV DNA in pigs slaughtered in Kenya during a period with no reported outbreaks provided support for the hypothesis that subclinical, chronically infected or recovered pigs may be responsible for persistence of the virus in endemic areas (Thomas et al., 2016). Other findings indicated that carrier pigs may play a role in ASFV maintenance and help explain the disease outbreaks that have occurred without any evidence of any of the known transmission sources (pigs clinically ill with ASF or adjacent populations of resistant African wild pigs) (Abworo et al., 2017). These findings have significantly increased scientific knowledge of the epidemiology of ASF in the field in Africa, which has contributed to the design of effective surveillance and control strategies.

The role of the ancestral sylvatic cycle of ASFV was not well understood in the endemic areas of eastern Africa. Scientists therefore explored for the first time the coexistence of different ASFV genotypes in the soft ticks found in warthog burrows and adult wild warthogs in Kenya. The data from this and earlier studies suggest that there has been transfer of viruses of at least two different p72 genotypes from wild to domestic pigs in East Africa (Gallardo *et al.*, 2011).

Although warthogs are considered the main wild vertebrate host of the virus in the endemic African setting, they are not the only wild African pigs with a potential role in ASF epidemiology. The bush pig, Potamochoerus larvatus, is an elusive, nocturnal pig known to be susceptible to ASF, and might be a link between the sylvatic and domestic cycle. Studies from south-west Kenya showed similarity in viruses in bush pigs and domestic pigs (Okoth et al., 2013), indicating possible transmission between the two species or the presence of an intermediary vector. Initial results following a bush pig with a radio collar revealed close interactions between the species (Ståhl et al., 2014). Other studies have reported an apparent strong association of viral infections with pig breeds, suggesting that some breeds may be resistant to infection and offering opportunities for genetic resistance as a disease mitigation measure as well as encouraging the conservation of tolerant breeds (Mujibi et al., 2018).

Participatory epidemiology studies in three districts of central Uganda found that farmers considered ASF and parasites to be the major health constraint to pig production. They also reported ASF as the primary cause of pig mortality, with epidemics occurring mainly during the dry season (Dione *et al.*, 2014). Other studies have revealed widespread under-reporting of ASF by farmers, traders and animal healthcare professionals and the motivations for this (Atherstone *et al.*, 2019).

Risk factors

Understanding risk factors can help target control efforts to where they will have most effect. ILRI scientists have explored risk factors for ASF in Uganda and Kenya (Dione *et al.*, 2015; Nantima *et al.*, 2015). Key drivers of outbreaks were panic sales of pigs and inadequate disposal of dead pigs. In an innovative study, ASF transmission paths and nodes were described using social network analysis (Lichoti *et al.*, 2016, 2017). This showed the importance of commerce in spreading ASFV between farms and across regions, implying that greater emphasis should be placed on post-farm nodes in the prevention and control of the disease (Dione *et al.*, 2016a).

Control

By combining knowledge and data from the various studies, it was possible to estimate disease transmission dynamics using geospatial mapping and mathematical modelling. This was used for *ex ante* assessment of the effectiveness of different ASF control strategies and to identify the optimum time for deployment of interventions in the field to minimize the losses following ASF outbreaks (Barongo *et al.*, 2015, 2016). This provided evidence to help national and international partners conduct targeted surveillance of pig diseases, including important zoonoses (Dione *et al.*, 2017). The evidence generated has informed the development of an ASF control strategy for Africa (FAO/AU-IBAR/ILRI, 2017).

In the absence of a vaccine, the most common recommendation for ASF control has been to implement biosecurity measures such as footbaths, fencing and quarantine. Such measures are usually promoted through training and public information campaigns. A randomized control trial was carried out to evaluate the effects of training farmers in biosecurity on the Kenva-Uganda border. The trial found that, although farmer knowledge improved after the trial, farmer practices did not (Nantima et al., 2016). Another attempt in Bangladesh (with poultry) to promote biosecurity through training and public information also indicated that information was insufficient to change behaviour and that additional motivation was needed (Rimi et al., 2016).

ILRI was a member of GASFRA. This organized four scientific conferences from 2013 to 2016 to conduct gap analyses of current knowledge and the available countermeasures to effectively control and mitigate the impact of a disease outbreak of ASF. Based on these analyses, a report was generated setting out the priority research needs (Seixas *et al.*, 2018).

ILRI, in partnership with FAO and the African Union, elaborated a strategy joined with an action plan to allow a progressive and coordinated control of ASF at the regional level. To achieve this objective, it prioritized the strengthening of capacities of technical services and the improvement of current production systems, creating optimal conditions for the modernization and development of the pig industry in a healthy context (FAO/AU-IBAR/ILRI, 2017).

Research impact: socio-economic studies

Scientists also explored the knowledge, attitudes, practices, capacities and incentives of pig value chain actors in relation to ASF and biosecurity (Chenais, 2016). This showed that respondents were well aware of the clinical signs of ASF, the routes for disease spread and the measures for disease control. However, awareness of the control measures did not guarantee their implementation. A majority of middlemen and butchers acknowledged having sold live pigs, carcasses or pork that they believed was infected with ASF. Factors that limit the adoption of biosecurity measures by farmers include cost and cultural factors such as the stigma related to the use of footbaths and the restriction of farm visits to neighbours or traders.

The results of an *ex ante* model projected that, although biosecurity measures would reduce ASF outbreaks, they would also lead to a 6.2% reduction in profit per year while giving a 7.8% increase in profits accruing to butchers, traders, collectors and wholesalers (Ouma *et al.*, 2018). This could explain the low adoption of biosecurity practices by farmers and a need for other incentives for farmers (Nantima *et al.*, 2016).

Other studies assessed the gender dimensions of pig management and disease control. These found that, during disease outbreaks, especially of ASF, both men and women provided animal health care. Therefore, control information should explicitly target both men and women within the same household. This broader outreach would help spread knowledge of pig husbandry and ensure that action during outbreaks does not rely on a few individuals (Dione *et al.*, 2016b,c).

Mycoplasma Disease

Mycoplasmas are the smallest and simplest self-replicating bacteria. Several species of mycoplasma infect humans, causing pneumonia, urinary tract infections and sexually transmitted disease. Hundreds more species infect animals. CBPP is an infectious disease of cattle caused by the small-colony type of *Mycoplasma mycoides*; CCPP is a devastating disease of goats caused by *Mycoplasma capricolum*.

CBPP was introduced to Africa in the 1800s and is now one of the most important livestock

While eradication is the surest way to control CBPP, it is expensive and can only be tried during major outbreaks and on major trade routes. Eradication is generally infeasible in Africa because of animal movements and the limited resources of national veterinary services. The current control strategy relies on using a live vaccine. Unfortunately, this has limited efficacy, a short duration of immunity and causes severe side effects (including the loss of the animal's tail). The current diagnostic tests have limited sensitivity and are only useful at the herd level and are not practical at individual levels.

Research

An ILRI review of animal health and poverty issues identified CBPP and CCPP as major problems (Perry *et al.*, 2002), although CBPP research had not begun until the late 1990s. At this time, Ethiopia was experiencing major new outbreaks. ILRI initially supported a thesis on the cost of CBPP control in Ethiopia (Laval, 1999). Scientists subsequently estimated the presence and prevalence of CBPP in the Ethiopian highlands (Bonnet *et al.*, 2005), defined the basic epidemiological parameters of the disease in southern Sudan (Mariner *et al.*, 2006a) and promised a control model in East Africa (Mariner *et al.*, 2006b).

Careful analysis of the existing literature on CBPP suggested the key information and technologies needed to develop better control measures in an African environment (Jores *et al.*, 2013b). Research then focused on host-mycoplasma interactions, epidemiological models, improved diagnostics, elucidation of protective responses and identification of potential vaccine antigens.

Research impact: technologies

Diagnostics

In the absence of good vaccines, recurrent testing using improved diagnostic assays in combination with elimination of CBPP-positive animals or herds is a control option (Ssematimba *et al.*, 2015). ILRI research found that the inaccuracy of the official (OIE) prescribed assays (complement fixation test and competitive ELISA) make them suitable for use at the herd level only (Nkando *et al.*, 2012). This was confirmed by a comparison of four serological assays: one complement fixation assay developed in house and three OIE-recommended tests (Schubert *et al.*, 2011). None of the four tests detected all infected animals. ILRI scientists later contributed to the development of a novel, successfully validated, real-time PCR assay (Schnee *et al.*, 2011).

ILRI scientists next set out to develop an improved serological test, seeking to find novel mycoplasma antigens recognized by sera from infected cattle, thus having diagnostic potential to improve test sensitivity (Jores et al., 2009; Naseem et al., 2010). A systematic comparison of 17 selected Mycoplasma mycoides subsp. mycoides (Mmm) immunogens commenced, a standardized ELISA protocol was developed, and well-defined serum samples were used to compare individual proteins and protein combinations with respect to sensitivity and specificity (Heller et al., 2016). The resulting assay, comprising the two best-performing immunogens, had an overall diagnostic accuracy comparable to the OIE-prescribed tests, and work to optimize the test further is under way.

The assay was further transferred to a lateral flow test format in collaboration with a commercial company, enabling rapid diagnosis (less than 30 min) of CBPP (Heller *et al.*, 2016). The test is currently undergoing final optimization and evaluation. A rapid and field-applicable recombinase polymerase amplification assay was also developed for a related pathogenic mycoplasma, *M. capricolum* subsp. *capripneumoniae* (*Mccp*) that could be further developed to make it commercial (Liljander *et al.*, 2015).

Vaccines

An early study suggested a minor role for $CD4^+$ T-lymphocytes, which are involved in helping and regulating immune responses, in protection in a primary infection (Jores *et al.*, 2008), despite some earlier publications suggesting such a link. This was confirmed in a later study in cattle depleted for $CD4^+$ T-lymphocytes (Sacchini *et al.*, 2011). Differences in disease severity are probably largely due to differences in cattle genotypes. Inflammatory cytokines, as expected, were found during infections in lung tissues (Sterner-Kock *et al.*, 2016) and in plasma (Sacchini *et al.*, 2012). Depletion of $CD4^+$ T-cells did not significantly influence cytokine levels, again suggesting their minor role in control of a primary infection.

Several approaches were followed to identify protective antigens. Although antibody titres in a primary infection did not seem to correlate with a positive outcome for the animal (Schieck *et al.*, 2014), it was hypothesized that antibodies protect in a secondary infection or after vaccination. ILRI scientists and colleagues contributed towards the characterization of the *in vitro* core surface proteome of cultured mycoplasma, thus identifying candidate *Mmm* antigens for the development of improved control measures (Krasteva *et al.*, 2014). Another study characterized proteins expressed *in vivo* by mycoplasma obtained from pleural effusion (Weldearegay *et al.*, 2015).

Evidence was obtained by an ILRI student that whole, inactive mycoplasma were protective (Mwirigi *et al.*, 2016a). Immunizations were carried out with the live vaccine and with two formulations of inactivated *Mmm*. Heat-inactivated mycoplasma were found to be as protective as the live vaccine. This confirmed that live mycoplasma are not required for induction of immunity and suggested that protection can be induced by purified molecules, which are much preferable as vaccines.

Virulence factors are molecules produced by pathogens that allow them to infect hosts and evade the immune system and are currently the focus of intense research. If vaccines could be developed against virulence factors they could be helpful in preventing disease or reducing severity. For Mmm, no virulence factors have been confirmed in vivo. However, for the closely related goat mycoplasma, Mycoplasma mycoides subsp. capri (Mmc), biology tools such as genome transplantation can be employed to gain insight into the function of genes. The whole genome of Mmc is transferred into yeast cells, where it can be modified using molecular tools available for yeast, and the modified genome is then transplanted back into mycoplasma cells and the resulting mutant can be characterized. This approach was used to generate a mutant mycoplasma lacking the polysaccharide coating (an outer layer composed of carbohydrates), and in vivo experiments demonstrated that the polysaccharide coating is indeed a virulence factor (Schieck et al., 2016; Jores *et al.*, 2018). The polysaccharide molecules were purified, coupled to a protein and administered twice to cattle (Mwirigi *et al.*, 2016b). After challenge, the severity of disease in the immunized cattle was significantly reduced. It is interesting to know that carbohydrate can protect, and this is in agreement with the hypothesis that prevention of adhesion to lung cells is protective, but the polysaccharide coating would not be suitable for vaccine production, as it would be too expensive to produce.

Additional studies tested other potential pathogenic molecules for their capacity to protect against disease. Two promising protein candidates (Mulongo et al., 2013, 2015) were investigated. Neither protein induced protection: in contrast, immunization with LppQ-N exacerbated pathogenesis as a result of the formation of immune complexes (Mulongo et al., 2015). Immunization with the other candidate did induce good antibodies in cattle, but these antibodies did not inhibit the enzymatic function of the enzyme, which may have been necessary for the prevention of its pathogenicity (Mulongo et al., 2013). These studies emphasize that care has to be taken when selecting candidate vaccine antigens, and that it is important to avoid including antigens that do not protect or that counterprotect in a subunit vaccine (Jores et al., 2013b).

A successful approach in a comprehensive project was aimed at identifying candidate vaccine molecules using reverse vaccinology. As the genome of Mmm was available, a bioinformatics study selected 66 proteins that were likely to be present on the mycoplasma membrane or were secreted and were therefore accessible to the immune system. ILRI contributed synthetic genes for 38 of these Mmm proteins and the remaining were designed, and recombinant proteins produced. The potential antigens were ranked on their ability to elicit antibody responses, as tested in sera from immune animals (Perez-Casal et al., 2015). After prioritization, the recombinant proteins were then pooled into groups of five antigens and administered to cattle. After challenge, three of the formulations induced protection (Nkando et al., 2016). This suggests that more than one protein is protective, and further research suggested that a cocktail of four proteins mixed with an adjuvant formed a good vaccine. The Kenya Veterinary Vaccines Production Institute (KEVEVAPI) is currently acquiring the Although in laboratory studies the efficacy of the subunit vaccine was the same as the live vaccine, it will still have a number of vital advantages: a lower price, no need for a cold chain (important to reach remote areas with little infrastructure) and the absence of serious side effects. This last condition is important to convince herders to vaccinate their animals. Another advantage of the subunit vaccine is that it may allow the development of a test to discriminate vaccinated from infected animals, which will greatly facilitate disease control.

Therapeutics

A study, initiated by the University of Nairobi and finalized at the BecA-ILRI Hub identified plants used by local herders to treat lung infections in their animals and tested extracts from these plants for their capacity to block *in vitro* mycoplasma growth (Kama-Kama *et al.*, 2016). Several had activity, and further research identified at least one chemical compound with bacteriostatic activity for *Mmm* (Kama-Kama *et al.*, 2017).

Research impact: molecular epidemiology

ILRI contributed to the isolation of new mycoplasma strains, as well as obtaining genome sequencing of several strains, including *Mmm* (Fischer *et al.*, 2015), *Mccp* (Falquet *et al.*, 2014) and *Mycoplasma feriruminatoris* sp. nov. (Fischer *et al.*, 2013; Jores *et al.*, 2013a). Additional important work was done by Gourgues and Barr (2016).

ILRI scientists improved our knowledge of the phylogenetic relationships and demographic history of mycoplasma of the 'mycoides cluster', a group of related mycoplasma that infect ruminants (Fischer *et al.*, 2012). They used multi-locus sequence typing on seven housekeeping genes from over 120 strains. Interestingly, the origin of *Mmm*, the cause of CBPP, dates back approximately 10,000 years, coinciding with the domestication of livestock. It is believed that the tradition of keeping goats and cattle in close proximity must have allowed a goat mycoplasma (*Mmc*) to jump to cattle and differentiate into a pathogenic species.

Host-mycoplasma interactions

Because Mmm causes a severe infection in the lungs, one step in the disease process must be the interaction of mycoplasma with cells in the lungs. A study demonstrated strong attachment of cultured mycoplasma to in vitro-cultured bovine lung epithelial cells. While all cell types bound mycoplasma to some degree, very high binding was only observed with lung or bronchial epithelial cells from cattle (Aye et al., 2015). However, when the epithelial cells were derived from fetal lungs, no such binding was observed. This would explain why newborn and very young calves do not develop lung disease, as they may lack a receptor for mycoplasma attachment. As expected if strong attachment is an essential step in the disease process, the mycoplasma also showed only strong specificity for bovine cells, and not for cells from other species including sheep and goat. Preventing this binding step may thus prevent disease. Monoclonal antibodies were created against Mmm, and a number that inhibited attachment were selected. In one further study on these monoclonal antibodies, a mycoplasma molecule was identified as being involved in the adhesion process (Ave et al., 2018) and could be a target for vaccination. Further testing was not carried out, as, in the meantime, the reverse vaccinology approach had successfully identified protective antigens (described earlier).

Research impact: field epidemiology and control

Modelling control strategies

Treatment of affected cattle with antimicrobials has been officially discouraged on the basis that it may favour the creation of chronic carriers, which are believed to be responsible for disease spread. However, a simulation model developed by ILRI and collaborators based on field data from Ethiopia found that antibiotics were the most efficient strategy, suggesting that the use of antimicrobials by smallholder farmers should be reconsidered (Lesnoff *et al.*, 2004).

Jeffrey Mariner and colleagues also developed mathematical models assessing the impact of alternative control measures on the transmission dynamics of CBPP, incorporating field parameters from pastoral systems. The results indicated that a control strategy based on the currently available vaccines alone would not be sufficient to eradicate CBPP unless the efficacy. safety and duration of immunity could be substantially improved. According to the models, the farmers would benefit from reduced disease prevalence and mortality through vaccination of healthy animals combined with antimicrobial treatment of clinical cases (Mariner et al., 2006b). The models also suggested that, under the prevailing inter-herd contact patterns, CBPP can be maintained indefinitely, even in moderate-sized herds (Mariner et al., 2006a.b). A recent model predicted that CBPP could be eliminated in approximately 2 years provided that 75% of the animals in an isolated herd are vaccinated annually (minimum vaccine protection required is 18 months) and recommended that recurrent testing be done using an improved diagnostic test and elimination of positive animals (Ssematimba et al., 2015).

Epidemiological surveys

When CBPP increased in the Ethiopian highlands, ILRI and partners responded by researching the problem and solutions. At that time, there was little information reported in the literature on within-herd spread of CBPP during outbreaks. In collaboration with the Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD) and the National Animal Health Research Centre, a research programme was set up in a CBPP-infected zone in the Ethiopian highlands (Boji district in West Wellega Zone) to estimate the epidemiological parameters of the disease and to assess the effects of different disease-management strategies naturally implemented by the local farmers.

A longitudinal study was carried out, which found that 34% of cattle became seropositive over a 16-month observation period and 39% of these became clinically ill, while 13% died (Lesnoff *et al.*, 2004). There was no evidence that CBPP control measures used locally by farmers (including treatment) had any benefit. A subsequent study found that herd prevalence increased with herd size and that clinical signs observed in the survey were not indicative of disease prevalence (Bonnet *et al.*, 2005). These studies brought to attention some of the complications in controlling CBPP.

Vaccine trial

The current CBPP control strategy in Africa is based on immunization with a live vaccine (mainly strain T1/44). The vaccine confers immunity only for 6 months to 1 year and has occasionally shown severe side effects at the inoculation site: 3.8% of animals showed side effects including loss of their tail (Kairu-Wanyoike *et al.*, 2014b). The vaccine needs a cold chain and must be applied within 1 h of reconstitution. These characteristics lead to low acceptance and willingness by the animal owners to present their animals for vaccination. In addition, the vaccine is not widely available as the veterinary services regulate its use.

ILRI and partners conducted a 3-year immunization trial using a modified vaccine formulation – the commercially available T1/44 vaccine – while concurrently evaluating vaccine delivery systems. The programme concluded that the modified vaccine did not result in improved protection when deployed under field conditions (Nkando *et al.*, 2012). While stating that properly delivered vaccination significantly reduced the impact of CBPP in affected areas, the study also highlighted the need for annual boosting for sustained protection.

Research impact: socio-economics

Demand for vaccines

ILRI scientists and partners used structured questionnaires to assess farmer practices and perceptions of CBPP control, the willingness of farmers to pay, their preferences regarding vaccination and an estimation of the impact of CBPP (Kairu-Wanyoike *et al.*, 2013, 2014a,b, 2017). Pastoral populations consider CBPP a threat to their cattle, but awareness of prevention control methods varied. Many farmers were reluctant to vaccinate their cattle due in part to adverse reactions. The need for a better vaccine was reflected in the low willingness of farmers to pay for the current vaccine and vaccination. The willingness to pay was higher for a hypothetical preferred vaccine and vaccine attributes such as the inclusion of a pH indicator (Kairu-Wanyoike *et al.*, 2014a).

Vaccine delivery systems

CBPP control measures and disease perceptions were further studied from a gendered socioeconomic perspective in north-eastern Kenya (Muindi et al., 2015). It was concluded that poor road infrastructure represented the main obstacle for vaccine delivery in the study area and that women, being better at recognizing the early clinical signs of CBPP, could play an important role in preventing disease spread by alerting the community and thus averting herd and trade losses by swift implementation of quarantine and ring vaccinations (Waithanji et al., 2015). Furthermore, the studies concluded that there is a market for the implementation and adoption of an improved CBPP vaccine by both men and women if it is thermostable, more efficacious and safer than the current vaccine. Women also found affordability an important attribute for a new vaccine (Muindi et al., 2015). These types of study are well known to overestimate demand and willingness to pay and should be regarded as promising but inconclusive in this context.

Policy analysis

ILRI contributed to a policy analysis for the implementation of CBPP control strategies in pastoral regions of sub-Saharan Africa (Onono *et al.*, 2017). This found that current vaccination was low and suggested the adoption of signed contractual agreements between the public and private sectors to support the vaccination of susceptible herds raised in endemic regions.

Peste des Petits Ruminants

PPR, or 'goat plague', is a highly contagious disease of wild and domestic sheep and goats (Taylor, 1984; Robinson *et al.*, 2011). The disease is caused by peste des petits ruminants virus, genus *Morbillivirus*, which is closely related to rinderpest virus. PPR is a devastating disease in naïve small ruminants. Outbreaks have occasionally been observed in camels and some species of wild Asian ungulates, but no clinical disease has been reported in African wildlife. The disease was recognized as a 'rinderpest-like' condition of goats in Nigeria in 1930 and was first characterized in Côte d'Ivoire in 1942. Until the 1980s, it was seen as a problem of West Africa: since then, it has spread rapidly to around 70 countries in Africa, the Middle East and Asia. The disease re-entered China in 2015 and spread to the borders with Korea and Vietnam. In 2016, Mongolia reported its first case in livestock and a subsequent mass mortality event in wildlife, especially the Saiga antelope. In 2018, the disease was reported in the European Union (Bulgaria). Kenya saw a series of epidemics in 2006-2008, killing almost 1.2 million small ruminants and causing a decline in milk production of 2.1 million litres (FAO, 2016). The mean annual global loss from PPR mortality has been estimated at US\$1.5 billion, ranging from US\$0.8 billion to US\$2.7 billion (Mariner et al., 2016).

Safe, effective and inexpensive live vaccines, based on the Nigeria 75/1 or Sungri strains, are available and widely used. The Nigeria 75/1 strain has been in use for decades without any adverse effects and has been shown to generate life-long immunity and to protect against all lineages of PPR. The availability of these vaccines combined with lessons learnt from the global eradication of rinderpest have inspired the international animal health community to target PPR for global eradication by 2030. ILRI aims to contribute to the global eradication effort while at the same time providing evidence to inform and guide it.

Research

ILRI has been involved in PPR research since 2010 with the aim of developing vaccination strategies for developing countries. ILRI hosted the second meeting of GPRA and its scientists contributed to the development of the first pan-African strategy for the progressive control of PPR (Elsawalhy *et al.*, 2010). Subsequently, ILRI scientists contributed to a business analysis for the global eradication of PPR (Jones *et al.*, 2016; Mariner *et al.*, 2016), and remain closely engaged with the FAO/OIE PPR Secretariat. ILRI scientists have been advocates for aggressive eradication of PPR through programmes that emphasize surveillance, epidemiological analysis and targeted vaccination.

Research impact: technologies

In southern Nigeria, ILCA developed and tested a package consisting of a tissue-culture rinderpest vaccine and a dipping programme to control mange. They reported that, as a result, kid survival had greatly increased, reproductive efficiency of does improved, and monthly mortality declined by 87% in goats and by 79% in sheep (Adeoye, 1985).

Research on PPR restarted in the 2000s (Balamurugan et al., 2014). ILRI scientists demonstrated the feasibility of production of a thermostable vaccine for PPR, showing that effective PPR vaccines based on the attenuated Nigeria 75/1 strain could be thermostabilized using the protocol for the production of the thermostable rinderpest vaccine developed by Tufts University and the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) (Mariner et al., 1990, 1991) and used in the Global Rinderpest Eradication Programme (GREP) (Mariner et al., 2012). As the thermostable rinderpest manufacturing process is unencumbered by intellectual property constraints and could be used with the existing PPR vaccine produced in accordance with OIE norms, the vaccine was available for implementation in the field.

To identify the optimal process to achieve thermostability, two main approaches were compared, one based on the ThermoVax rinderpest vaccine developed by Tufts University and the USDA, which is free from intellectual property constraints, the other based on the patented Xerovac process. Thermostability was assessed in accelerated stability tests at a range of temperatures and using in vitro titration assays. The ThermoVax method used in rinderpest vaccine manufacture was found to provide the best long-term thermostability at 37°C. These batches consisted of existing PPR vaccine lyophilized in the same 72 h cycle that had been utilized in the production of thermostable rinderpest vaccine (Mariner et al., 1991). Under OIE norms, changes to lyophilization procedures do not require revalidation of the immunogenicity of the vaccine. The ILRI team concluded that the efficiency of the lyophilization cycle, a key variable that impacts the efficacy of chemical stabilization, was the source of the enhanced stability, as this was the only variable changed in the batches found to have the highest levels of thermostability. Lyophilization is an activity that combines biological, chemical and physical sciences. Largescale lyophilizers are purpose-built machines, and each has a different configuration of components that behaves uniquely. The lyophilization process has to be optimized for each machine. The result was a PPR vaccine that maintained the minimum required dose as a 25-dose presentation for over 5 months at 37°C and for over 10 days at 56°C. This level of thermostability is comparable to that achieved for the thermostable rinderpest vaccine used in the global eradication of rinderpest (Mariner *et al.*, 2017).

Current efforts focus on producing sufficient vaccine to enable pilot vaccination programmes. To this end, the Central Veterinary Laboratory in Mali and KEVEVAPI have started using the protocol with technical support from ILRI and Tufts University scientists. The performance of resulting batches will be assessed through the Pan African Veterinary Vaccine Centre (PANVAC) and its performance in the field and efficiency will be compared with conventional vaccine. Thus, this vaccine will be an important control tool for remote areas, providing essential support for global eradication efforts.

In addition, ILRI has supported the testing of novel DIVA (differentiation between infected and vaccinated animals) vaccines using African breeds, as ILRI is one of the few institutions where such tests can actually be done (Holzer *et al.*, 2016). DIVA vaccines differentiate between infected and vaccinated animals because the vaccines lack at least one antigenic protein that is present on the field virus. These vaccines are important for control because vaccination in poultry would have greater worldwide acceptance if naturally infected and vaccinated-only animals could be distinguished, and if culling were necessary then naturally infected animals could be targeted.

Research impact: field epidemiology and control

Vaccination strategies

ILRI has been active in advancing approaches using targeted vaccination as a more effective alternative to mass vaccination because it has higher effectiveness and lower cost. ILRI has also piloted more effective vaccination delivery systems based on public–private–community partnerships and quantity-based approaches to remuneration for work done. One of the lessons of rinderpest eradication was that mass vaccination was not a successful approach for completing the eradication process. The success of eradication depended on the development of approaches that identified populations responsible for disease maintenance and then focused vaccination on those critical communities. This finding was applied to PPR as ILRI piloted vaccination activities in Karamoja, Uganda and Sudan. In Uganda, vaccination was implemented through community animal health workers with costs covered by the public sector. In Sudan, more conventional veterinary personnel were used, but the livestock owners covered the costs.

Global eradication

There are four components in the global eradication framework of PPR: (i) promoting an enabling environment and reinforcing veterinary capacities through public information, updating legal framework and preparing national and regional PPR plans; (ii) supporting diagnostic and surveillance systems, which includes assessment of the epidemiological situation and strengthening of regional epidemiology and laboratory networks; (iii) supporting PPR eradications and, if approximately 1.5 billion sheep and goats need to be vaccinated, controlling other small ruminant diseases in support of PPR eradication; and (iv) coordination at country, regional and global levels.

ILRI facilitated scientists who had played leadership roles in the global eradication of rinderpest to assess key lessons from rinderpest eradication and help lay the foundation for the global eradication of PPR (Mariner *et al.*, 2012). Social innovations in animal health institutions were identified as key to capturing the benefits of technological developments such as the thermostable rinderpest vaccine. This activity fitted well with ILRI's mandate in representing the interests of developing countries and improving our understanding of animal health institutions to mitigate the impact of disease.

Newcastle Disease

Newcastle disease (ND) is a highly contagious disease of poultry and other birds caused by the Newcastle disease virus in the family *Paramyxoviridae*. It is considered the most important TAD in village poultry. Periodic outbreaks result in high mortality among free-ranging flocks and serve as a disincentive for poultry keepers to invest time or resources in their birds. Because of the difficulty of attaining biosecurity in backyard poultry, vaccination is the preferred control strategy. Live vaccines have been widely used since the 1950s and have made great progress in preventing and controlling ND. Live lentogenic B1 and LaSota vaccine strains of low virulence are commonly used worldwide for protection.

Research

Poultry disease was not a focus of research during ILRI's first decades, and for a number of reasons, stakeholders did not prioritize poultry health. Moreover, in Africa, poultry did not make important contributions to the diet, although that has changed due to imports and the establishment of intensive production. Poultry disease first rose to prominence at ILRI because of the highly pathogenic avian influenza (HPAI) pandemic (see Chapter 8, this volume). Subsequently, a project investigated ND vaccine impact in East Africa, and further work studied a range of poultry diseases in Ethiopia.

Research impact: technologies

Live vaccines can show low efficacy due to administration challenges or failure of birds to mount a sufficient immune response. ILRI research in Ethiopia investigated the potential for improving vaccination success in village chicken. ILRI conducted a study to compare the antibody response to ND in intensively reared and backyard chicken. The latter mounted a much weaker response. A follow-on experiment found that veterinary treatment (especially worming) before vaccination could dramatically improve the antibody response and hence the protection offered by the vaccine (Abera *et al.*, 2017).

Research impact: field epidemiology and control

In the early 2000s, desk research developed background papers on ND in Ethiopia (Dessie and Jobre, 2004) and southern Africa (McDermott *et al.*, 2001). ND was also addressed along with HPAI in South-east Asia as discussed in Chapter 5 (this volume).

The first major research into poultry health in Ethiopia was launched in 2011. Its aim was to identify infectious diseases of Ethiopian village poultry and to improve their control. ND was identified by farmers as the highest priority disease. A longitudinal study subsequently found that ND was responsible for the death of 843 chickens of the cohort of 1358 birds (Jarso, 2015).

Because of the lack of previous research, ILRI was also able to identify some diseases for the first time. The poultry farm at the Ethiopian Institute of Agricultural Research (EIAR), Debre Zeit, represents an important centre for research, farmer training in poultry production and distribution of birds among smallholders. As such, it has vital links with farmers, especially intensive and semi-intensive producers. In 2012, respiratory disease was a major cause of morbidity and mortality. ILRI used a combination of serological and molecular methods for the detection of pathogens, reporting for the first time variant infectious bronchitis virus (793B genotype), avian metapneumovirus subtype B and Mycoplasma synoviae in poultry. This information was used for planning vaccination programmes (Hutton et al., 2017).

Research impact: socio-economic studies

ILRI conducted an economic analysis in Nigeria and found that ND caused an estimated 25.5 million poultry deaths each year nationwide, costing 8.9 billion naira. Control comprising vaccination, sanitary measures and surveillance was estimated to cost 1.8 billion naira per year (Fadiga *et al.*, 2011). Within this study, a related *ex post* analysis examined efforts to stop HPAI in Nigeria. A stochastic epidemiological model was used to parameterize counterfactuals of disease evolution with and without interventions. The results indicated that a programme of HPAI control versus a baseline of endemic, high-mortality HPAI gave a benefit:cost ratio of 1.75 over a 5-year period.

Vaccine adoption

ND vaccines are widely used in intensive poultry production and are effective and inexpensive.

While ND vaccines are readily available, uptake by poor farmers has been very limited. A project conducted a study in 2011 to investigate vaccine adoption in Kenya and Tanzania in order to understand the barriers and bridges to adoption (Lindahl et al., 2019). In this study, two areas in Kenya and Tanzania were studied, where all villages were eligible for government control programmes, but some villages had received additional support to get vaccination from a project (Tanzania) or non-governmental organization (Kenya). Where vaccination support had been given, 59% of households overall had used vaccines against ND, which was significantly (p < 0.001) more than the 17% of households that had used the ND vaccine in areas with no additional support. However, many farmers stopped using vaccines, and even those who did use them often used them suboptimally and continued to experience losses from ND. Despite this, there were significantly fewer reported poultry deaths in villages with support. This showed the importance of additional support if vaccines are to be taken up by poor farmers, and also the gap between theoretical performance of disease control and disease control in practice. Even with considerable external support, almost no farmers vaccinated their poultry in accordance with recommendations and losses from ND continued.

The Ethiopian work later evaluated vaccine uptake. A contingent valuation method was conducted to elicit farmers' willingness to pay for village poultry vaccine services. Two hypothetical vaccine programmes were designed for ND and Gumboro disease. The results showed that farmers recognized the benefits of the vaccine programme and that many would be willing to pay for it (Terfa *et al.*, 2015).

Other Livestock Transboundary Diseases

Rinderpest

Rinderpest is an infectious viral disease that has killed hundreds of millions of cattle over hundreds of years, often causing famine. Rinderpest was formally declared to have been eradicated in 2011, becoming only the second disease (after smallpox) to have been eradicated. This is widely regarded as the greatest veterinary achievement of our time. It was the result of decades of effort by a wide range of research institutes, donors, intergovernmental organizations, national governments, non-governmental organizations and cattle-keepers. FAO had a key leadership role.

ILRI made a small but strategic contribution. First, economists developed and disseminated some of the first estimates of the very large benefits that could be obtained from control (Tambi et al., 1999). ILRI economists also contributed to post hoc assessments of the socio-economic direct and indirect benefits of rinderpest eradication (Roeder and Rich, 2009). Rich et al. (2014) examined the ex post impact of rinderpest eradication in Chad and India. An important innovation of this study was methodological, in terms of identifying impact from the producer level to national and international levels. Farm impacts were examined through the use of a herd demographic model and macroeconomic impacts with a computable general equilibrium (CGE) model. Baseline benefit:cost ratios associated with eradication in Chad were 4.0 over 1963-2002 (ranging from -5.8 to 47.2). In India, the final stage of eradication yielded a benefit:cost ratio of over 64.

ILRI scientists also developed a mathematical model for disease dynamics (Mariner et al., 2005). Estimates from simulations suggested populations of around 200,000 head of cattle were needed to sustain transmission. This meant that communities smaller than 200,000 head did not need to be prioritized in the final stages of eradication as the disease would naturally fade out in these populations. Furthermore, this supported the view that, if the disease was controlled in cattle, it would fade out in wildlife populations as the fragmented populations remaining in Africa are not large enough to sustain infection even if biologically competent to do so. More importantly, modelling was shown to be an effective communication tool to engage decision makers, illustrating concepts such as fade out of disease from small populations and how suboptimal vaccination could contribute to virus persistence (Roeder et al., 2013).

Small contributions were made to field epidemiology. By the 1990s, Somalia was one of the few remaining reservoirs for rinderpest, but control there was hampered by political instability. ILRI contributed to developing a risk map based on social and network risk factors (Ortiz-Pelaez *et al.*, 2010), a method originally developed for mapping FMD in the UK. This identified areas in the central and southern regions of Somalia where veterinary authorities could concentrate surveillance activities.

Participatory surveillance evolved during the global eradication of rinderpest when the tools used for participatory rural appraisal were adapted to searching for rinderpest outbreaks. The approach proved its utility by identifying occult foci of disease and providing appropriate intelligence to guide the eradication strategy (Mariner and Roeder, 2003). ILRI conducted an evaluation of participatory surveillance to provide guidance for appropriate use (Hannah *et al.*, 2012). This found that participatory surveillance was a useful epidemiological tool, most appropriate for small-scale farmers and applied in complement to conventional surveillance.

Foot-and-mouth disease

Foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) is often considered the most economically important global animal disease (see Chapter 5, this volume). Notable achievements in FMD research were: (i) an impact for specific regions; and (ii) participation in GFRA. In 2010, GFRA performed a gap analysis to identify areas where FMD research could have the greatest impact and to guide and coordinate future research efforts. The 2014 gap analysis was updated to include work published in 2015 and was the subject of a special issue of Transboundary and Emerging Diseases. Most of the research syntheses involved ILRI scientists (Vosloo and Knight-Jones, 2016). An earlier case study of the Philippines showed benefits of ILRI work. In 1999, the National Foot and Mouth Disease Task Force of the Philippines requested ILRI's support for a national FMD control and eradication program. An ILRI team complied with the request and, in 2002, published the results of its epidemiological and economic assessment of the potential benefits of eradicating FMD from the Philippines. The results clearly indicated significant potential economic benefits, particularly for Filipino swine producers, who were threatened by a virus subtype highly specific to pigs that was causing high piglet mortality, widespread pig abortions, and infertility. The joint ILRI-Filipino evidence clearly showed the proposed eradication program to be a worthwhile investment of public funds. This public-private partnership for control and eradication continued until 2011, when the Philippines was declared free of foot and mouth. This official disease-free status opened up markets for pork products from the Philippines and motivated the country's producers to upgrade their piggeries.

Classical swine fever

Classical swine fever (CSF) is a highly contagious, potentially fatal viral disease of swine. It is endemic in much of Africa and Asia. In India, pigs are most important in the north-eastern states, and ILRI started to work with the sector in the early 2000s. ILRI conducted epidemiological and economic studies on CSF in the Indian states of Assam, Nagaland and Mizoram in 2011. These found that pig farmers incurred huge losses, over 2 billion Indian rupees each year, from mortality, treatment and replacement costs. ILRI suggested interventions such as vaccine-based control to the government and private sector. As a result, the Government of India initiated a national swine fever control programme targeting north-east India. Moreover, policy changed to better facilitate the licensing of vaccine production by public and private institutes. A subsequent ILRI project trained community animal health workers and started vaccination against pigs. No cases of disease were reported after vaccination. The State Government of Nagaland then mainstreamed the approach (Bett et al., 2014). Although at an early stage, there is some evidence for ILRI research leading to positive outcomes (Padmakumar et al., 2017).

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome

Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) is an important disease in pig production and is endemic in Vietnam. ILRI conducted the first nationwide studies of PRRS in Vietnam, identifying spatial and temporal patterns that are useful in planning control (Fig. 7.1) (Lee *et al.*, 2019).

Lumpy skin disease

Lumpy skin disease (LSD) is an economically important TAD of cattle caused by the lumpy skin disease virus in the genus *Capripoxvirus*. Although it is present in most African countries, the disease is mild and inapparent, so difficult to detect. Failure to report subclinical cases of LSD due to lack of good diagnostic tools is a major limitation in LSD control. ILRI included LSD in several field epidemiology surveys showing its importance in Ethiopia and Tanzania. An economic analysis of the hides and skins value chain in Somaliland found that LSD was a significant impediment to the export trade (Wanyoike *et al.*, 2018).

A major limitation to LSD control is the difficulty of detecting it. Despite the availability of molecular diagnostic methods that are appropriate for LSD diagnosis, there is no single rapid, sensitive and inexpensive method. The BecA-ILRI Hub tested a loop-mediated isothermal amplification (LAMP) assay (Lamprey and Reid, 2004) for LSD diagnosis; this is a gene amplification procedure that can amplify a few copies of DNA to a large amount in less than 1 h using simple equipment. The tests suggested that LAMP would be an accurate and useful diagnostic tool (Mwanandota *et al.*, 2018).

Infectious bursal disease

Infectious bursal disease is an acute, highly contagious, viral disease of young chickens. The disease causes small-scale poultry farmers huge economic losses, both from the many birds that die outright and from lost productivity among surviving birds. With collaborators, ILRI conducted the first molecular characterization of the infectious bursal disease in Kenya. The Directorate of Veterinary Services plans to use the findings to develop improved vaccination, surveillance and control strategies for infectious bursal disease, such as procedures for virus diagnosis (ILRI, 2018).

Transboundary Animal Diseases in Systems

Transboundary animal diseases (TADs) do not occur in isolation but as part of complex



Fig. 71. Space-time cluster analysis of PRRS outbreaks from 2008 to 2016 in Vietnam. (from Lee et al., 2019).

ecosystems. Nearly all disease research focuses on a single disease or few closely related diseases, but in reality organisms are normally infected with a number of more or less pathogenic organisms at any one time. ILRI recruited a large cohort of calves in western Kenya to investigate a wide range of diseases (over 100) and to follow up each calf with monthly clinical examinations and laboratory testing for 51 weeks over a period of 3 years (Fig. 7.2) (Bronsvort *et al.*, 2013). This enormous undertaking was the most ambitious veterinary epidemiological study to date carried out in a developing country. It was scientifically significant as the first attempt to describe the entire disease burden of any naturally occurring animal population in the world. This study generated a wide range of scientific findings, published in high-impact journals. These included several 'firsts' in terms of pathogens, parameters and disease associations that had not been reported previously. Research tools were developed and validated. Although many of the findings have implications for disease control, their development impacts have not yet been evaluated.

Some of the more novel and important outputs and findings were as follows:

• The cohort experienced a high mortality rate of 16%, with at least 13% of this due to



Fig. 7.2. Study area in western Kenya. (From de Clare Bronsvoort et al., 2013.)

infectious diseases. Over 50 pathogens were detected in this population, with exposure to a further six viruses and bacteria. East Coast fever (ECF) was the main cause of death, accounting for 40% of all deaths, haemonchosis 12% and heartwater disease 7% (Thumbi *et al.*, 2013).

• Following a cohort of animals allowed investigation of coinfections. The study found that these were common and that the risk of ECF death was itself significantly increased by a high helminth burden and by coinfection with trypanosomiasis. Farmers that provided crop residues to their animals

as a feed supplement had significantly lower deaths from helminths. This study gave empirical evidence on simple actions that could greatly reduce calf mortality (Thumbi *et al.*, 2014).

 Heterologous reactivity is the influence of past or current infection on the outcome of infection with another: this may be positive or negative. Because calves were followed over time, researchers were able to obtain the first quantitative estimates of the effects of heterologous reactivity for any parasitic disease. The study provided three strands of evidence for heterologous protection against ECF in a population of indigenous African cattle. A natural challenge analysis found that infection with less pathogenic *Theileria* spp. reduced mortality from ECF; the case–control study quantified the level of protection (43% reduction in mortality); and the mathematical model of heterologous protection successfully predicted key features of the epidemiology of ECF. This suggested that heterologous protection may determine the burden and distribution of many parasitic diseases in host populations, including humans (Woolhouse *et al.*, 2015).

- Many more farmers reported carrying out disease control measures such as tick control and worming than were actually observed. This suggests that farmers are answering what they think they should be doing or maybe have done, but a significant proportion actually then appeared to not carry out these measures over the course of our observations. This highlighted the need for caution in interpreting responses, especially from cross-sectional data (Bronsvoort *et al.*, 2013).
- Investigation of antibodies to four tick-borne haemoparasites found that 90% of dams were seropositive for at least one of the parasites, while 93% of calves had received colostrum. Surprisingly, there was no discernible difference in mortality or growth rate between calves that had taken colostrum and those that had not. These results are also important for interpretation of serosurveys of young calves following natural infection or vaccination (Toye *et al.*, 2013a).
- Bluetongue virus (BTV) and epizootic haemorrhagic disease virus (EHDV) are members of the genus *Orbivirus*, transmitted by biting midges. BTV spread from Africa to Europe, resulting in high economic losses. The study found that BTV and EHDV are highly prevalent, with cattle being infected from an early age. This was the first report of EHDV from East Africa (Toye *et al.*, 2013b).
- Calf respiratory disease is a major problem globally but is little researched in Africa. The study found that three viruses often implicated (infectious bovine rhinotracheitis virus, bovine parainfluenza virus type 3 and bovine viral diarrhoea virus) all have an estimated seroprevalence of around 20% (Callaby *et al.*, 2016).

This study was the first to accurately describe the haematological parameters for any African breed of cattle. Unlike European cattle breeds that experience a fall in red blood cells following birth, the West African cattle showed a rise. This is useful in understanding what is normal, but also suggests a possible mechanism for disease resistance (van Wyk *et al.*, 2013). Data from the study were also used to develop and validate a girth band to predict live weight of East African Shorthorn Zebu (Lesosky *et al.*, 2012). This is useful for research but also appropriate for dosing of animals.

Conclusion and Future Directions

Because TADs can spread rapidly and cause catastrophic losses, they are of extreme concern to the intensive livestock sector in high-income countries. In these industries, many TADs have been eradicated, and hence they are vulnerable to reintroduction from developing countries. Because TADs were seen as having been well studied, they were not initially prioritized by ILRI. This has gradually changed as evidence has emerged that TADs can have deep impacts in poor countries.

A more pragmatic reason is that, because of their potential impact on high-income countries, there is often funding available for TAD control. This introduces a certain tension between the priorities of rich and poor countries, as nonepidemic animal diseases are almost certainly of greater burden than the epidemic TADs. However, TAD research offers a bridge between low- and middle-income countries and high-income countries research by providing a subject of common interest but differing relative advantage. Novel approaches, pioneered by ILRI and collaborators, to investigating multiple diseases in cohorts of animals can help us better understand the relative importance of endemic and epidemic disease and how they interact.

External drivers, including demographic growth, climate change, biodiversity loss, urbanization, globalization and dietary change, have potentially profound effects on TAD dynamics, which ILRI can influence, mitigate and take leverage of to fulfil its mission. Laboratory-based work has produced some notable achievements including generating fundamental knowledge on genetics and phylogenetics, new and improved diagnostics, and promising vaccine candidates. Much of this research is upstream and, by its nature, development benefits will take several decades to be visible. However, there is well-documented frustration with the technologies available for TAD management and control, and much potential for improvement.

Some of the identified priorities, which inform future research, include: cheap, simple, robust field diagnostics: thermostable vaccines that do not require a cold chain; DIVA vaccines that allow vaccinated and infected animals to be distinguished; vaccines that are inexpensive and provide life-long immunity; vaccines that are free of side effects: multivalent vaccines so that one shot will immunize against many diseases; ways of telling whether a vaccine is authentic and functional: and vaccines that are more effective and do not 'break down' as the result of challenges in administration and because animals are immunocompromised. As this chapter has summarized, ILRI is working actively in all these areas with some success and the promise of more to come.

Developing innovative and impactful TAD control requires a good understanding of how both diseases and people behave. ILRI TAD research has had success in developing mathematical models and understanding transmission dynamics, i.e. how diseases move among hosts, vectors and the environment. This information has been central to important control successes in the past and will be in the future. However, good models require good data on disease parameters, and these are often not available or can only be gathered at costs that investors are unwilling to pay. Students and graduate fellows have always been involved in ILRI health research, and this has been important for capacity development as well as establishing and expanding networks. To a lesser extent, training has been extended to decision makers, implementers and value chain actors. This is likely to be more important in the future.

As the research agenda has developed, ILRI and its investors have increasingly focused on impact today as well as tomorrow. Field studies have shown that, while vaccines are theoretically the best measure for disease control, poor farmers have very little propensity to buy them and the public sector has very little capacity to deliver them at scale, at least on a continuous as opposed to a campaign basis. This has opened new directions to explore.

The eradication of rinderpest raises hopes that progressive control may be the one best solution for those TADs that can be eradicated, notably PPR. At the same time, there has been more attention on influencing farmers' behaviour as a form of control. Research on several TADs makes it clear that 'training and information' are inadequate and that other incentives, whether social, financial or changes in choice architecture (nudges), are needed.

Finally, there is a shift from scientific papers to field products. This means relying on markets as well as public services, and public-private partnerships are an active area of research and engagement. Future research will continue to develop and improve diagnostics and vaccines with increasing focus on applications. This will be accompanied by efforts to create novel approaches to TAD control that use market and social forces. Understanding these needs a value chain and consumer focus, as well as an appreciation of equity issues.

Note

¹ The TickRisk project, led by Maxime Madder and Eva De Clerq and based largely in Benin, and the WecatiC project, led by Hassane Adakal, have provided the above data, mostly collected during 2012–2013.

References

Abera, B., Lynch, S., Duguma, R., Dessie, T., Bettridge, J., et al. (2017) Immunogenicity of the Newcastle disease virus vaccine La Sota, in introduced birds under intensive and extensive management conditions. Livestock Research for Rural Development 29, 110

- Abworo, E.O., Onzere, C., Amimo, J.O., Riitho, V., Mwangi, W., et al. (2017) Detection of African swine fever virus in the tissues of asymptomatic pigs in smallholder farming systems along the Kenya-Uganda border: implications for transmission in endemic areas and ASF surveillance in East Africa. *Journal of General Virology* 98, 1806–1814.
- Adeoye, S.A.O. (1985) Disease profiles of sheep and goats in two groups of villages in southwest Nigeria. In: Sumberg, J.E. and Cassaday, K. (eds) *Proceedings of the Workshop on Small Ruminant Production Systems in the Humid Zone of West Africa*, 23–26 January 1984. ILCA, Ibadan, Nigeria.
- Atherstone, C., Galiwango, R., Grace, D., Alonso, S., Dhand, N., et al. (2019) Analysis of pig trading networks and practices in Uganda. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 51, 137–147.
- Aye, R., Mwirigi, M., Frey, J., Jores, J., Pilo, P. and Naessens, J. (2015) Cyto-adherence of *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* to primary bovine lung epithelial cells is a critical step in contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. *BMC Veterinary Research* 11, 27.
- Aye, R., Weldearegay, Y.B., Lutta, H.O., Chuma, F., Pich, A., et al. (2018) Identification of targets of monoclonal antibodies that inhibit adhesion and growth in *Mycoplasma mycoides* subspecies *mycoides*. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 204, 11–18.
- Balamurugan, V., Hemadri, D., Gajendragad, M.R., Singh, R.K. and Rahman, H. (2014) Diagnosis and control of peste des petits ruminants: a comprehensive review. *VirusDisease* 25, 39–56.
- Barongo, M.B., Bishop, R.P., Fèvre, E.M., Knobel, D.L. and Ssematimba, A. (2016) A mathematical model that simulates control options for African swine fever virus (ASFV). *PLoS One*, 11, e0158658.
- Barongo, M.B., Ståhl, K., Bett, B., Bishop, R.P., Fèvre, E.M., *et al.* (2015) Estimating the basic reproductive number (*R*₀) for African swine fever virus (ASFV) transmission between pig herds in Uganda. *PLoS One*, 10, e0125842.
- Bett, B., Deka, R.P., Padmakumar, V. and Sones, K.R. (2014) *Prevention of classical swine fever an impact narrative from Northeast India*. ILRI Research Brief 8. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Bishop, R.P., Fleischauer, C., de Villiers, E.P., Okoth, E.A., Arias, M., et al. (2015) Comparative analysis of the complete genome sequences of Kenyan African swine fever virus isolates within p72 genotypes IX and X. Virus Genes 50, 303–309.
- Bonnet, P., Lesnoff, M., Thiaucourt, F., Workalemahu, A. and Kifle, D. (2005) Seroprevalence of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia in Ethiopian highlands (West Wellega zone, Bodji District). *Ethiopian Veterinary Journal* 9, 85–93.
- de Clare Bronsvoort, B.M., Thumbi, S.M., Poole, E.J., Kiara, H., Auguet, O.T., *et al.* (2013) Design and descriptive epidemiology of the Infectious Diseases of East African Livestock (IDEAL) project, a longitudinal calf cohort study in western Kenya. *BMC Veterinary Research* 9, 171.
- Callaby, R., Toye, P., Jennings, A., Thumbi, S., Coetzer, J., *et al.* (2016) Seroprevalence of respiratory viral pathogens of indigenous calves in Western Kenya. *Research in Veterinary Science* 108, 120–124.
- Chenais, E. (2016) Knowledge, attitudes and practices related to African swine fever within smallholder pig production in northern Uganda. *Transboundary Emerging Diseases* 64, 101–115.
- Costard, S., Wieland, B., de Glanville, W., Jori, F., Rowlands, R., *et al.* (2009) African swine fever: how can global spread be prevented? *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 364, 2683–2696.
- Dessie, T. and Jobre, Y. (2004) A review of the importance and control of Newcastle disease in Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Veterinary Journal* 8, 71–81.
- de Villers, E.P., Carmina, G., Marisa, A., Melissa, S., Chris U., Raquel, M. and Bishop, R.P. (2010) Phylogenomic analysis of 11 complete African swine fever virus genome sequences. *Virology*, 400, 128–136.
- Dione, M.M., Ouma, E.A., Roesel, K., Kungu, J., Lule, P. and Pezo, D. (2014) Participatory assessment of animal health and husbandry practices in smallholder pig production systems in three high poverty districts in Uganda. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 117, 565–576.
- Dione, M.M., Akol, J., Roesel, K., Kungu, J., Ouma, E.A., et al. (2015) Risk factors for African swine fever in smallholder pig production systems in Uganda. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 64, 872–882.
- Dione, M., Ouma, E., Opio, F., Kawuma, B. and Pezo, D. (2016a) Qualitative analysis of the risks and practices associated with the spread of African swine fever within the smallholder pig value chains in Uganda. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 135, 102–112.
- Dione, M.M., Ochago, R., Ouma, E.A., Lule, P. and Birungi, R. (2016b) The gender dimensions of a pig disease: African swine fever in Uganda. In: Pyburn, R. and van Eerdewijk, A. (eds) *A Different Kettle of Fish? Gender Integration in Livestock and Fish Research*. LM Publishers, Volendam, The Netherlands.

- Dione, M., Nantima, N., Mayega, L., Amia, W., Wieland, B. and Ouma, E. (2017) *Enhancing biosecurity along Uganda's pig value chains to control and prevent African swine fever*. Livestock Brief 1. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Dione, M.M., Ochago, R., Lule, P. and Mayega, L. (2018a) *Guideline for participatory training on African swine fever control for smallholder pig farmers in Uganda*. ILRI Manual 28. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Dione, M.M., Masembe, C., Amia, C.W., Akol, J., Kungu, J. and Wieland, B. (2018b) The importance of on-farm biosecurity: Sero-prevalence AND RISK FACTORS of bacterial and viral pathogens in smallholder pig systems in Uganda. *Acta Tropica* 187, 214–221.
- Elsawalhy, A., Mariner, J.C., Chibeu, D., Wamwayi, H., Wakhusama, S., *et al.* (2010) Pan African strategy for the progressive control of peste des petits ruminants. *Bulletin of Animal Health and Production in Africa* 58, 185–193.
- Fadiga, M., Jost, C. and Ihedioha, J. (2011) Financial costs of disease burden, morbidity and mortality from priority livestock diseases in Nigeria: disease burden and cost-benefit analysis of targeted interventions. Nigeria Integrated Animal and Human Health Management Project Final Report. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Falquet, L., Liljander, A., Schieck, E., Gluecks, I., Frey, J. and Jores, J. (2014) Complete genome sequences of virulent *Mycoplasma capricolum* subsp. *capripneumoniae* strains F38 and ILRI181. *Genome Announcements* 2, e01041-1.
- FAO (2016) Peste des Petits ruminants Global Eradication Programme: contributing to food security, poverty alleviation and resilience. FAO and WHO, Rome. Available at: http://www.fao.org/3/a-i6316e. pdf (accessed 7 April 2020).
- FAO/AU-IBAR/ILRI (2017) Regional strategy for the control of African swine fever in Africa. FAO, Rome.
- Fischer, A., Shapiro, B., Muriuki, C., Heller, M., Schnee, C., *et al.* (2012) The origin of the 'mycoplasma mycoides cluster' coincides with domestication of ruminants. *PLoS One* 7, e36150.
- Fischer, A., Santana-Cruz, I., Giglio, M., Nadendla, S., Drabek, E., *et al.* (2013) Genome sequence of *Mycoplasma feriruminatoris* sp. nov., a fast-growing mycoplasma species. *Genome Announcements* 1, e00216-12.
- Fischer, A., Santana-Cruz, I., Hegerman, J. and Gourlé, H, *et al.* (2015) High quality draft genomes of the *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* challenge strains Afadé and B237. *Standards in Genomic Science* 10, 89.
- Galindo, I. and Alonso, C. (2017) African swine fever virus: a review. Viruses 9, 103.
- Gallardo, C., Mwaengo, D.M., Macharia, J.M., Arias, M., Taracha, E.A., et al. (2009) Enhanced discrimination of African swine fever virus isolates through nucleotide sequencing of the p54, p72, and pB602L (CVR) genes. Virus Genes 38, 85–95.
- Gallardo, C., Okoth, E., Pelayo, V., Anchuelo, R., Martin, E., *et al.* (2011) African swine fever viruses with two different genotypes, both of which occur in domestic pigs, are associated with ticks and adult warthogs, respectively, at a single geographical site. *Journal of General Virology* 92, 432–444.
- Gallardo, C., Soler, A., Nieto, R., Carrascosa, A., de Mia, G., et al. (2013) Comparative evaluation of novel African swine fever virus (ASF) antibody detection techniques derived from specific ASF viral genotypes with the OIE internationally prescribed serological tests. *Veterinary Microbiology* 162, 32–43.
- Gourgues, G. and Barr. (2016) Complete genome sequence of *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* T1/44, a vaccine strain against contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. *Genome Announcements* 14, e00263-16.
- Hannah, H., Pali, P., Rware, H., Bett, B., Randolph, T., *et al.* (2012) Participatory disease surveillance evaluation: findings from Africa (HPAI) and Pakistan (Rinderpest). Poster prepared for the 13th conference of the International Society for Veterinary Epidemiology and Economics, 2012, Maastricht, The Netherlands, 20–24 August, 2012. ISVEE, Durban, South Africa.
- Heller, M., Gicheru, N., Tjipura-Zaire, G., Muriuki, C., Yu, M., et al. (2016) Development of a novel cocktail enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and a field-applicable lateral-flow rapid test for diagnosis of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 54, 1557–1565.
- Holzer, B., Taylor, G., Rajko-Nenow, P., Hodgson, S., Okoth, E., et al. (2016) Determination of the minimum fully protective dose of adenovirus-based DIVA vaccine against peste des petits ruminants virus challenge in East African goats. Veterinary Research 47, 20.
- Hutton, S., Bettridge, J., Christley, R., Habte, T. and Ganapathy, K. (2017) Detection of infectious bronchitis virus 793B, avian metapneumovirus, *Mycoplasma gallisepticum* and *Mycoplasma synoviae* in poultry in Ethiopia. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 49, 317–322.

ILRI (2018) ILRI corporate report 2016-2017. ILRI, Nairobi.

Jarso, D. (2015) Epidemiology of village chicken diseases: a longitudinal study on the magnitude and determinants of morbidity and mortality – the case of Newcastle and infectious bursal disease. MSc thesis, Addis Ababa University, Debre Zeit, Ethiopia.

- Jones, B.A., Rich, K.M., Mariner, J.C., Anderson, J., Jeggo, M., et al. (2016) The economic impact of eradicating peste des petits ruminants: a benefit-cost analysis. PLoS One 11, e0149982.
- Jores, J., Nkando, I., Sterner-Kock, A., Haider, W., Poole, J., *et al.* (2008) Assessment of *in vitro* interferon-γ responses from peripheral blood mononuclear cells of cattle infected with *Mycoplasma mycoides* ssp. *mycoides* small colony type. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 124, 192–197.
- Jores, J., Meens, J., Buettner, F.F., Linz, B., Naessens, J. and Gerlach, G. (2009) Analysis of the immunoproteome of *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* small colony type reveals immunogenic homologues to other known virulence traits in related *Mycoplasma* species. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 131, 238–245.
- Jores, J., Fischer, A., Sirand-Pugnet, P., Thomann, A., Liebler-Tenorio, E.M., et al. (2013a) Mycoplasma feriruminatoris sp. nov., a fast growing Mycoplasma species isolated from wild Caprinae. Systematic and Applied Microbiology 36, 533–538.
- Jores, J., Mariner, J.C. and Naessens, J. (2013b) Development of an improved vaccine for contagious bovine pleuropneumonia: an African perspective on challenges and proposed actions. *Veterinary Research* 44, 122.
- Jores, J., Schieck, E., Liljander, A., Sacchini, F., Posthaus, H., et al. (2018) Capsular polysaccharide in Mycoplasma mycoides is a virulence factor. Journal of Infectious Diseases 219, 1559–1563.
- Kairu-Wanyoike, S.W., Kaitibie, S., Taylor, N.M., Gitau, G.K., Heffernan, C., et al. (2013) Exploring farmer preferences for contagious bovine pleuropneumonia vaccination: a case study of Narok District of Kenya. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 110, 356–369.
- Kairu-Wanyoike, S.W., Kaitibie, S., Heffernan, C., Taylor, N.M., Gitau, G.K., et al. (2014a) Willingness to pay for contagious bovine pleuropneumonia vaccination in Narok South District of Kenya. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 115, 130–142.
- Kairu-Wanyoike, S.W., Kiara, H., Heffernan, C., Kaitibie, S., Gitau, G.K., et al. (2014b) Control of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia: knowledge, attitudes, perceptions and practices in Narok district of Kenya. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 115, 143–156.
- Kairu-Wanyoike, S.W., Taylor, N.M., Heffernan, C. and Kiara, H. (2017) Micro-economic analysis of the potential impact of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia and its control by vaccination in Narok district of Kenya. *Livestock Science* 197, 61–72.
- Kama-Kama, F., Midiwo, J., Nganga, J., Maina, N., Schiek, E., et al. (2016) Selected ethno-medicinal plants from Kenya with in vitro activity against major African livestock pathogens belonging to the Mycoplasma mycoides cluster. Journal of Ethnopharmacology 192, 524–534.
- Kama-Kama, F., Omosa, L.K., Nganga, J., Maina, N., Osanjo, G., et al. (2017) Antimycoplasmal activities of compounds from Solanum aculeastrum and Piliostigma thonningii against strains from the Mycoplasma mycoides cluster. Frontiers in Pharmacology 8, 920.
- Krasteva, I., Liljander, A., Fischer, A., Smith, D.G., Inglis, N.F., et al. (2014) Characterization of the *in vitro* core surface proteome of *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides*, the causative agent of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. Veterinary Microbiology 168, 116–123.
- Lamprey, R.H. and Reid, R.S. (2004) Expansion of human settlement in Kenya's Maasai Mara: what future for pastoralism and wildlife? *Journal of Biogeography* 31, 997–1032.
- Laval, G. (1999) *Cost analysis of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia in Ethiopia*. MSc thesis, Claude Bernard University, Lyon, France.
- Leblanc, N., Cortey, M., Fernandez Pinero, J., Gallardo, C., Masembe, C., *et al.* (2013) Development of a suspension microarray for the genotyping of African swine fever virus targeting the SNPs in the C-terminal end of the p72 gene region of the genome. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 60, 378–383.
- Lee, H.S., Pham, T.L., Nguyen, T.N., Lee, M. and Wieland, B. (2019) Seasonal patterns and space-time clustering of porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome (PRRS) cases from 2008 to 2016 in Vietnam. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 66, 986–994.
- Lesnoff, M., Laval, G., Bonnet, P., Abdicho, S., Workalemahu, A., et al. (2004) Within-herd spread of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia in Ethiopian highlands. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 64, 27–40.
- Lesosky, M., Dumas, S., Conradie, I., Handel, I.G., Jennings, A., *et al.* (2012) A live weight-heart girth relationship for accurate dosing of east African shorthorn zebu cattle. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 45, 311–316.
- Lichoti, J.K., Davies, J., Kitala, P.M., Githigia, S.M., Okoth, E., et al. (2016) Social network analysis provides insights into African swine fever epidemiology. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 126, 1–10.
- Lichoti, J.K., Davies, J., Maru, Y., Kitala, P.M., Githigia, S.M., et al. (2017) Pig traders' networks on the Kenya-Uganda border highlight potential for mitigation of African swine fever virus transmission and improved ASF disease risk management. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 140, 87–96.

- Liljander, A., Yu, M., O'Brien, E., Heller, M., Nepper, J.F., et al. (2015) Field-applicable recombinase polymerase amplification assay for rapid detection of *Mycoplasma capricolum* subsp. capripneumoniae. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 53, 2810–2815.
- Lindahl, J.F., Young, J., Wyatt, A., Young, M., Alders, R., *et al.* (2019) Do vaccination interventions have effects? A study on how poultry vaccination interventions change smallholder farmer knowledge, attitudes, and practice in villages in Kenya and Tanzania. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 51, 213–220.
- Liu, B., Asseng, S., Müller, C., Ewert, F., Elliott, J., et al. (2016) Similar estimates of temperature impacts on global wheat yield by three independent methods. *Nature Climate Change* 6, 1130–1136.
- Mariner, J.C. and Roeder, P. (2003) The use of participatory epidemiology in studies of the persistence of rinderpest in East Africa. *Veterinary Record* 152, 641–647.
- Mariner, J.C., House, J.A., Sollod, A.E., Stem, C., van den Ende, M. and Mebus, C.A. (1990) Comparison of the effect of various chemical stabilizers and lyophilization cycles on the thermostability of a Vero cell-adapted rinderpest vaccine. *Veterinary Microbiology* 21, 195–209.
- Mariner, J.C., House, J.A., Mebus, C.A., Sollod, A. and Stem, C. (1991) Production of a thermostable Verocell-adapted rinderpest vaccine. *Journal of Tissue Culture Methods* 13, 253–256.
- Mariner, J.C., McDermott, J.J., Heesterbeek, J.A.P., Catley, A. and Roeder, P. (2005) A model of lineage-1 and lineage-2 rinderpest virus transmission in pastoral areas of East Africa. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 69, 245–263.
- Mariner, J.C., McDermott, J., Heesterbeek, J., Thomson, G., Roeder, P.L. and Martin, S. (2006a) A heterogeneous population model for contagious bovine pleuropneumonia transmission and control in pastoral communities of East Africa. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 73, 75–91.
- Mariner, J.C., McDermott, J., Heesterbeek, J., Thomson, G. and Martin, S. (2006b) A model of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia transmission dynamics in East Africa. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 73, 55–74.
- Mariner, J.C., House, J.A., Mebus, C.A., Sollod, A.E., Chibeu, D., et al. (2012) Rinderpest eradication: appropriate technology and social innovations. *Science* 337, 1309–1312.
- Mariner, J.C., Jones, B.A., Rich, K.M. Thevasagayam, S., Anderson, J., et al. (2016) The opportunity to eradicate peste des petits ruminants. *Journal of Immunology* 196, 2499–3506.
- Mariner, J.C., Gachanja, J., Tindih, S.H. and Toye, P. (2017) A thermostable presentation of the live, attenuated peste des petits ruminants vaccine in use in Africa and Asia. *Vaccine* 35, 3773–3779.
- McDermott, J., Coleman, P. and Randolph, T. (2001) Methods for assessing the impact of infectious diseases of livestock – their role in improving the control of Newcastle disease in Southern Africa. In: ACIAR Proceedings. ACIAR, Canberra, pp. 118–128.
- Muindi, P., Waithanji, E. and Bukachi, S. (2015) Gendered effects of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia (CBPP) occurrence and control in a pastoral community in Ijara sub county, northeastern Kenya. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Mujibi, F.D., Okoth, E., Cheruiyot, E.K., Onzere, C., Bishop, R.P., et al. (2018) Genetic diversity, breed composition and admixture of Kenyan domestic pigs. PLoS One, 13, e0190080.
- Mulongo, M.M., Frey, J., Smith, K., Schnier, C., Wesonga, H., *et al.* (2013) Cattle immunized against the pathogenic l-α-glycerol-3-phosphate oxidase of *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* fail to generate neutralizing antibodies and succumb to disease on challenge. *Vaccine* 31, 5020–5025.
- Mulongo, M., Frey, J., Smith, K., Schnier, C., Wesonga, H., et al. (2015) Vaccination of cattle with the N terminus of LppQ of *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* results in type III immune complex disease upon experimental infection. *Infection and Immunity* 83, 1992–2000.
- Mwanandota, J.J., Macharia, M., Ngeleja, C.M., Sallu, R.S., Yongolo, M.G., et al. (2018) Validation of a diagnostic tool for the diagnosis of lumpy skin disease. Veterinary Dermatology 29, 532-e178.
- Mwirigi, M., Nkando, I., Aye, R., Soi, R., Ochanda, H., et al. (2016a) Experimental evaluation of inactivated and live attenuated vaccines against *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides*. *Veterinary Immunology* and Immunopathology 169, 63–67.
- Mwirigi, M., Nkando, I., Olum, M., Attah-Poku, S., Ochanda, H., et al. (2016b) Capsular polysaccharide from Mycoplasma mycoides subsp. mycoides shows potential for protection against contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 178, 64–69.
- Nantima, N., Ocaido, M., Ouma, E., Davis, J., Dione, M., et al. (2015) Risk factors associated with occurrence of African swine fever (ASF) outbreaks in smallholder pig farms in four districts along the Uganda-Kenya border. Tropical Animal Health and Production 47, 589–595.
- Nantima, N., Davies, J., Dione, M., Ocaido, M., Okoth, E., et al. (2016) Enhancing knowledge and awareness of biosecurity practices for control of African swine fever among smallholder pig farmers in four districts along the Kenya-Uganda border. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 48, 727–734.

- Naseem, S., Meens, J., Jores, J., Heller, M., Dbel, S., et al. (2010) Phage display-based identification and potential diagnostic application of novel antigens from *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* small colony type. *Veterinary Microbiology* 142, 285–292.
- Nkando, I., Ndinda, J., Kuria, J., Naessens, J., Mbithi, F., et al. (2012) Efficacy of two vaccine formulations against contagious bovine pleuropneumonia (CBPP) in Kenyan indigenous cattle. Research in Veterinary Science 93, 568–573.
- Nkando, I., Perez-Casal, J., Mwirigi, M., Prysliak, T., Townsend, H., et al. (2016) Recombinant Mycoplasma mycoides proteins elicit protective immune responses against contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 171, 103–114.
- Okoth, E., Gallardo, C., Macharia, J., Omore, A., Pelayo, V., et al. (2013) Comparison of African swine fever virus prevalence and risk in two contrasting pig-farming systems in South-west and Central Kenya. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 110, 198–205.
- Onono, J.O., Wieland, B., Suleiman, A. and Rushton, J. (2017) Policy analysis for delivery of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia control technologies in sub-Saharan Africa. *Revue Scientifique et Technique* 36, 195–205.
- Ortiz-Pelaez, A., Pfeiffer, D.U., Tempia, S., Otieno, F.T., Aden, H.H. and Costagli, R. (2010) Risk mapping of rinderpest sero-prevalence in Central and Southern Somalia based on spatial and network risk factors. *BMC Veterinary Research* 6, 22.
- Ouma, E., Dione, M., Birungi, R., Lule, P., Mayega, L. and Dizyee, K. (2018) African swine fever control and market integration in Ugandan peri-urban smallholder pig value chains: an ex-ante impact assessment of interventions and their interaction. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 151, 29–39.
- Ouma, E., Dione, M., Lule, P.M., Pezo, D., Marshall, K., et al. (2015) Smallholder pig value chain assessment in Uganda: results from producer focus group discussions and key informant interview. ILRI Project Report. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Padmakumar, V., Deka, R.P. and Wright, I. (2017) *The impact of evidence-based stakeholder policy facilitation* on pig-sub sector growth in northeast India. ILRI Research Brief 80. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Perez-Casal, J., Prysliak, T., Maina, T., Wang, Y., Townsend, H., et al. (2015) Analysis of immune responses to recombinant proteins from strains of Mycoplasma mycoides subsp. mycoides, the causative agent of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology 168, 103–110.
- Perry, B.D., Randolph, T.F., McDermott, J., Sones, K. and Thornton, P. (2002) *Investing in animal health research to alleviate poverty*. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Rich, K.M., Roland-Holst, D. and Otte, J. (2014) An assessment of the ex-post socio-economic impacts of global rinderpest eradication: methodological issues and applications to rinderpest control programs in Chad and India. *Food Policy* 44, 248–261.
- Rimi, N.A., Sultana, R., Ishtiak-Ahmed, K., Rahman, M.Z., Hasin, M., et al. (2016) Understanding the failure of a behavior change intervention to reduce risk behaviors for avian influenza transmission among backyard poultry raisers in rural Bangladesh: a focused ethnography. BMC Public Health 16, 858.
- Robinson, T., Thornton, P., Franceschini, G., Kruska, R., Chiozza, F., *et al.* (2011) Global livestock production systems. FAO, Rome, and ILRI, Nairobi.
- Roeder, P. and Rich, K.M. (2009) Conquering the cattle plague: the global effort to eradicate rinderpest. In: Spielman, D.J. and Pandya-Lorch, R. (eds) *Millions Fed: Proven Successes in Agricultural Development*. IFPRI, Washington, DC, pp. 109–116.
- Roeder, P., Mariner, J. and Kock, R.R. (2013) Rinderpest: the veterinary perspective on eradication. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences* 368, 20120139.
- Sacchini, F., Naessens, J., Awino, E., Heller, M., Hlinak, A., *et al.* (2011) A minor role of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes in the control of a primary infection of cattle with *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides*. *Veterinary Research* 42, 77.
- Sacchini, F., Luciani, M., Salini, R., Scacchia, M., Pini, A., *et al.* (2012) Plasma levels of TNF-α, IFN-γ, IL-4 and IL-10 during a course of experimental contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. *BMC Veterinary Research* 8, 44.
- Schieck, E., Lartigue, C., Frey, J., Vozza, N., Hegermann, J., *et al.* (2016) Galactofuranose in *Mycoplasma mycoides* is important for membrane integrity and conceals adhesins but does not contribute to serum resistance. *Molecular Microbiology* 99, 55–70.
- Schieck, E., Liljander, A., Hamsten, C., Gicheru, N., Scacchia, M., et al. (2014) High antibody titres against predicted *Mycoplasma* surface proteins do not prevent sequestration in infected lung tissue in the course of experimental contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. *Veterinary Microbiology* 172, 285–293.

- Schnee, C., Heller, M., Jores, J., Tomaso, H. and Neubauer, H. (2011) Assessment of a novel multiplex real-time PCR assay for the detection of the CBPP agent *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* SC through experimental infection in cattle. *BMC Veterinary Research* 7, 47.
- Schubert, E., Sachse, K., Jores, J. and Heller, M. (2011) Serological testing of cattle experimentally infected with *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides* Small Colony using four different tests reveals a variety of seroconversion patterns. *BMC Veterinary Research* 7, 72.
- Seixas, A., Alzugaray, M.F., Tirloni, L., Parizi, L.F. and Pinto, A.F.M. (2018) Expression profile of *Rhipicephalus microplus* vitellogenin receptor during oogenesis. *Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases* 9, 72–81.
- Sørensen, M.R., Ilsøe, M., Strube, M.L., Bishop, R., Erbs, G., et al. (2017) Sequence-based genotyping of expressed swine leukocyte antigen class I alleles by next-generation sequencing reveal novel swine leukocyte antigen class I haplotypes and alleles in Belgian, Danish, and Kenyan fattening pigs and Göttingen minipigs. Frontiers in Immunology 8, 701.
- Ssematimba, A., Jores, J. and Mariner, J. (2015) Mathematical modelling of the transmission dynamics of contagious bovine pleuropneumonia reveals minimal target profiles for improved vaccines and diagnostic assays. *PLoS One* 10, e0116730.
- Ståhl, K., Ogweng, P., Okoth, E., Aliro, T., Muhangi, D., et al. (2014) Understanding the dynamics and spread of African swine fever virus at the wildlife-livestock interface: insights into the potential role of the bushpig, *Potamochoerus larvatus*. Suiform Soundings 13, 24–28.
- Steinaa, L., Bishop, R.P., Okoth, E.A., Svitek, N. and Riitho, V. (2016) Pig vaccines and diagnostics for African swine fever in Uganda. Livestock and Fish Brief. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Sterner-Kock, A., Haider, W., Sacchini, F., Liljander, A., Meens, J., *et al.* (2016) Morphological characterization and immunohistochemical detection of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1β, IL-17A, and TNF-α in lung lesions associated with contagious bovine pleuropneumonia. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 48, 569–576.
- Tambi, E.N., Maina, O.W., Mukhebi, A.W. and Randolph, T.F. (1999) Economic impact assessment of rinderpest control in Africa. *Revue Scientifique et Technique-Office International des Épizooties*, 18, 458–477.
- Taylor, W.P. (1984) The distribution and epidemiology of peste des petits ruminants. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* 2, 157–166.
- Terfa, Z., Garikipati, S., Dessie, T., Lynch, S., Wigley, P., et al. (2015) Farmers' willingness to pay for a village poultry vaccine service in Ethiopia: prospect for enhancing rural livelihoods. Food Security 7, 905–917.
- Thomas, L.F., Bishop, R.P., Onzere, C., Mcintosh, M.T., Lemire, K.A., *et al.* (2016) Evidence for the presence of African swine fever virus in an endemic region of Western Kenya in the absence of any reported outbreak. *BMC Veterinary Research* 12, 192.
- Thumbi, S.M., de Clare Bronsvoort, B.M., Kiara, H., Toye, P.G., Poole, J., et al. (2013) Mortality in East African shorthorn zebu cattle under one year: predictors of infectious-disease mortality. *BMC Veterin*ary Research 9, 175.
- Thumbi, S.M., de Clare Bronsvoort, B.M., Poole, E.J., Kiara, H., Toye, P.G., et al. (2014) Parasite co-infections and their impact on survival of indigenous cattle. *PLoS One* 9, e76324.
- Toye, P., Handel, I., Gray, J., Kiara, H., Thumbi, S., *et al.* (2013a) Maternal antibody uptake, duration and influence on survival and growth rate in a cohort of indigenous calves in a smallholder farming system in western Kenya. *Veterinary Immunology and Immunopathology* 155, 129–134.
- Toye, P.G., Batten, C., Kiara, H., Henstock, M., Edwards, L., et al. (2013b) Bluetongue and epizootic haemorrhagic disease virus in local breeds of cattle in Kenya. *Research in Veterinary Science* 94, 769–773.
- van Wyk, I.C., Goddard, A., Bronsvoort, B.M. de C., Coetzer, J.A., Booth, C., *et al.* (2013) Hematological profile of East African short-horn zebu calves from birth to 51 weeks of age. *Comparative Clinical Pathology* 22, 1029–1036.
- Vosloo, W. and Knight-Jones, T.J.D. (2016) GFRA Global foot-and-mouth disease research update and gap analysis. *Transboundary and Emerging Diseases* 63, 351–352.
- Waithanji, E., Mtimet, N. and Muindi, P. (2015) *Delivery of the contagious bovine pleuropneumonia (CBPP)* vaccine in northeastern Kenya. ILRI Discussion paper 31. ILRI, Nairobi.
- Wang, Q.H., Ren, W.J., Bao, J.Y., Ge, S.Q., Li, J.M., et al. (2018) The first outbreak of African swine fever was confirmed in China. Journal of China Animal Health Inspection 34, 1–5.
- Wanyoike, F.N., Mugunieri, L.G., Mtimet, N., Kiptoo, E. and Gulaid, I. (2018) An analysis of the hides and skins value chain in Somaliland. ILRI, Nairobi.

- Weldearegay, Y.B., Pich, A., Liljander, A., Schieck, E., Gicheru, N., et al. (2015) Proteomic characterization of bovine pleural effusion, a specific host niche of *Mycoplasma mycoides* subsp. *mycoides*, the causative agent of CBPP. *Journal of Proteomics* 131, 93–103.
- Woolhouse, M.E., Thumbi, S.M., Jennings, A., Chase-Topping, M., Callaby, R., *et al.* (2015) Co-infections determine patterns of mortality in a population exposed to parasite infection. *Science Advances* 1, e1400026.
- Zsak, L., Borca, M., Risatti, G., Zsak, A., French, R., *et al.* (2005) Preclinical diagnosis of African swine fever in contact-exposed swine by a real-time PCR assay. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 43, 112–119.